**RECEIVED**

**Apr 08 2026**

**SC Court of Appeals**

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM Horry COUNTY  
Court of General Sessions

The Honorable Michael G. Nettles

---

Appellate Case No. 2025-001023

---

The State of South Carolina,

Respondent,

v.

Rodolfo S. Moreno,

Appellant.

---

**INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

---

Dayne Phillips  
PRICE BENOWITZ LLP  
1614 Taylor Street, Ste. D.  
Columbia, SC 29201  
(803) 807-0234

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

**

## **STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL**

1. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR BY ADMITTING APPELLANT'S STATEMENT TO POLICE WHEN THE POLICE PROVIDED FALSE ASSURANCES OF CONFIDENTIALITY, AND WHERE THE TRIAL COURT AGREED THE FALSE ASSURANCES WERE IMPROPER BUT FOUND THE STATEMENT VOLUNTARY DESPITE THE UNCONSTITUTIONAL INDUCEMENT AND LACK OF EVIDENCE AGAINST APPELLANT?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On October 12, 2022, the Horry County Grand Jury indicted Rodolpho S. Moreno (“Appellant”) for Criminal Sexual Conduct with a Minor (“CSCM”), Second Degree. (R. \*). The Grand Jury also indicted Appellant for CSCM, Third Degree, on May 24, 2023. (R. \*). The Grand Jury indicted Appellant for additional counts of CSCM, Second and Third Degree, on July 19, 2023. (R. \*).

On May 12–16, 2025, Appellant proceeded to trial before the Honorable Michael G. Nettles (“Trial Court”) and a jury. (Tr. p. 1 – 411). Brad Richardson (“Defense Counsel”) represented Appellant, and Assistant Solicitors George Martin and Leigh Waller prosecuted the case on behalf of the State (“the State”). The jury returned guilty verdicts on all charges. (Tr. p. 389, line 23; p. 396, line 13 — p. 398, line 8; Tr. p. 400, line 8 – p. 401, line 12). The Trial Court then imposed concurrent sentences of fifteen (15) years imprisonment for each conviction. (Tr. p. 408, line 2 – p. 409, line 13).

On May 23, 2025, Appellant filed a Notice of Appeal. (R. \*).

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

### *State's Theory of the Case*

The State argued that Appellant began sexually abusing his daughter (“Daughter”) soon after her parents separated when she was approximately 12 years old. The State further argued that she kept the abuse a secret until she was 14 years old and confided in her best friend. During the separation, Appellant shared custody of his two biological children with his former spouse. Notably, his son (“Son”) was about 13 months younger than Daughter. (Tr. p. 120, line 1 – p. 124, line 9; Tr. p. 139, line 17 – p. 140, line 5).

### *Background*

By July of 2022, Appellant Rodolfo “Rudy” Moreno had been separated from his spouse for several years and living with his fiancé, Leyra Farinas (“Farinas”), at her home on Forestbrook Road since late October or early November of 2018. (Tr. p. 274, line 24 — p. 275, line 11). Farinas’ daughter, Nicholle (“Nikki”), also lived at that residence after Appellant moved into Farinas’ home. Nikki later moved out to attend college in September 2021. (Tr. p. 317, lines 22-25; Tr. p. 319, line 4 – p. 320, line 25).

In July 2022, Daughter accused Appellant of sexual abuse occurring between June 1, 2019 and March 19, 2021. (Tr. p. 124, lines 10-22; Tr. p. 133, lines 6-12; Tr. p. 136, line 12 – p. 138, line 24; R. \* Indictments). Her mother contacted the police on July 10, 2022, and Daughter provided a written statement to a patrol officer at their home. (Tr. p. 145, line. 13 – p. 146, line 24; Tr. p. 158, lines 2-15; Tr. p. 179, line 5 – p. 180, line. 3).

On July 15, 2022, the police sent Daughter to the Children’s Recovery Center (“CRC”) for an examination, and the CRC found no evidence indicating sexual assault or activity. (Tr. p. 238; Tr. p. 157, line 19 — p. 158, line 15; Tr. p. 249, line 5 – p. 251, line 8). Notably, the police did not have

the CRC interview Daughter, and although her allegations indicated that Brother was present during some of the charged conduct, the police or CRC never interviewed Brother. (Tr. p. 178, lines 20-25; Tr. p. 182, lines 5-12; Tr. p. 238, lines 6-9; Tr. p. 256, lines 19-25).

On July 18, 2022, Detective Paul Johnson (“Det. Johnson”) of the Horry County Police Department (“HCPD”) called Appellant while he was at work and requested that Appellant come to HCPD. Upon his arrival, Det. Johnson led him into an interrogation room with two detectives where he was Mirandized<sup>1</sup> and questioned by police. (Tr. p. 49, lines 17-24; Tr. p. 186, lines 1-21; R.\* State’s Exhibit No. 10, Recording).

After about ten minutes of questioning, detectives finally told Appellant that Daughter made allegations that he inappropriately touched her. (Tr. p. 50, lines 11-20; Tr. p. 188, lines 4-16). During the nearly 1 hour and 45 minute interrogation, Det. Johnson repeatedly lied and deceived Appellant. (Tr. p. 51, lines 5-17; Tr. p. 223, lines 2-4). Det. Johnson also introduced factual allegations made by Daughter, interjected language intimating that Appellant merely made “mistake” and had a “weak moment,” and leveraged Appellant’s faith in suggesting that he should admit to the abuse. (Tr. p. 197, line 16 – p. 200, line 10; Tr. p. 207, line 2 — p. 208, line 1; Tr. p. 210, line 23 — p. 211, line 1; Tr. p. 220, line 18 – p. 221, line 3; Tr. p. 222, line 20 — p. 223, line 14).

Additionally, Det. Johnson posed untenable choices, such as alluding that Appellant was either a pedophile preying on children or merely a man who had a moment of weakness. (Tr. p. 195, lines 2-25; Tr. p. 219, lines 16-25). Det. Johnson told Appellant that Daughter was in therapy and would either end up addicted to drugs or in a mental institution unless Appellant apologized for what he did to her. (Tr. p. 201, line 23 — p. 203, line 14; Tr. p. 207, lines 2-1; Tr. p. 208, line 21 — p. 209, line 8).

---

<sup>1</sup> *Miranda v. Arizona*, 384 U.S. 436, 86 S. Ct. 1602 (1966).

To build rapport and elicit a confession, Det. Johnson assured Appellant that the conversation was confidential, stating “it’s okay, it’s just me, you, and [another detective] in this room” and that they were not going to tell anybody. (Tr. p. 44, line 20 – p. 45, line 7; Tr. p. 54, line 1 – p. 55, line 20; Tr. p. 209, lines 21-25; R.\* State’s Exhibit No. 10, Recording). In fact, Det. Johnson provided these assurances after Appellant indicated his initial belief that others were watching behind a two-way mirror in the room. (Tr. p. 44, lines 3-11; Tr. p. 55, lines 6-14; R.\* State’s Exhibit No. 10, Recording).

After approximately an hour of enduring and denying lies, pressure, and false promises, Appellant’s will “broke”, and he admitted to some of the alleged conduct. (Tr. p. 58, line 23 – p. 59, line 2; Tr. p. 168, lines 6-9; Tr. p. 223, lines 15-25; Tr. p. 226, line 16 – p. 227, line 7). Despite those assurances, the police arrested Appellant immediately after his induced statement. (Tr. p. 227, lines 8-10).

### ***Pre-Trial: Motion to Suppress***

Pre-trial, Defense Counsel moved to suppress Appellant’s statement to police from July 18, 2022. (Tr. p. 29, lines 12-15; R.\* State’s Exhibit No. 10, Recording). Det. Johnson testified and admitted that the police had no intention of arresting Appellant that day because they did not have enough evidence to arrest him. Det. Johnson also conceded that it was important to obtain an admission from Appellant. (Tr. p. 42, lines 7-21; Tr. p. 49, lines 7-16).

Defense Counsel argued that the Court should suppress the involuntary statement based on law enforcement’s false assurances of confidentiality to Appellant in violation of Due Process, *State v. Collins*,<sup>2</sup> and other supporting case law. (Tr. 59, line 8 — p. 61, line 3; Tr. p. 62, line 4 – p. 66, line 25; Tr. p. 70, line 17 – p. 71, line 17).

---

<sup>2</sup> *Collins*, 442 S.C. 444, 900 S.E.2d 426 (2024).

Despite acknowledging law enforcement made such false assurances to Appellant more than once, the Trial Court denied Appellant's motion to suppress. (Tr. p. 68, line 10 – p. 69, line 11; Tr. p. 73, line 2 — p. 74, line 15). Specifically, the Trial Court found that the statements by police were “*improper and it should not have been said,*” but held that Appellant's will was not overborn because (1) Appellant continued to deny allegations before making admissions; and (2) the admissions did not amount to a full confession. (Tr. p. 73, lines 12-25) (emphasis added).

The Trial Court noted, “I think there's overwhelming circumstantial evidence that he had sex with his minor daughter.” (Tr. p. 74, lines 1-6). The Trial Court also stated the facts presented here were distinguishable from *Collins* because there was no restriction on Appellant's ability to leave or threat of incarceration. (Tr. p. 74, lines 6-9). Consequently, the Trial Court found the statements by Det. Johnson, “*although improper, were not so convincing as to render the statement involuntary.*” (Tr. p. 74, lines 12-14) (emphasis added).

### ***Trial***

At trial, the State presented no physical evidence or eye-witness testimony regarding any of the allegations against Appellant. (Tr. p. 182, line 5 – p. 184, line 14; Tr. p. 212, lines 23-24; Tr. p. 240, line 2; Tr. p. 242, lines 21-23; Tr. p. 249, lines 5-14; Tr. p. 249, line 25 — p. 251, line 8). Rather, the State's case relied upon the Daughter's testimony, and over Defense Counsel's objection, Appellant's statement to police. (Tr. P. 119, line 6 – p. 138, line 24; Tr. p. 162, line 14 – p. 175, line 17; R.\* State's Exhibit No. 10, Recording).

Appellant presented a defense-in-chief. Although the State never provided specific dates or times for when the abuse occurred, Appellant produced two witnesses to provide testimony regarding his whereabouts and those with him during the broad time frames contained in the indictments. (Tr. p. 187, lines 16-25; R.\* Indictments).

His fiancé, Farinas, testified that Appellant moved into her home in late October or early November of 2018, and that she and/or her daughter, Nikki, were with Appellant whenever Daughter and Son visited their home. Farinas also testified that she was with Appellant every night in their bedroom. (Tr. p. 274, line 21 — p. 275, line 4; Tr. p. 293, line 21 — p. 294, line 7). The only time when Appellant did not stay with her was during COVID because Appellant went back to his old house in Conway for three or four days.<sup>3</sup> (Tr. p. 286, lines 14-24; Tr. p. 310, lines 5-19).

His fiancé's daughter, Nikki, confirmed that Appellant moved into her mother's house on Forestbrook Road in late October or early November of 2018. (Tr. p. 323, lines 3-11). Nikki testified that she stayed home with Daughter and Son when they visited in the Summer while Farinas and Appellant worked during the day. Notably, Nikki testified that at no point did she observe anything improper or strange between Appellant and Daughter. (Tr. p. 326, line 20 — p. 327, line 23).

During closing arguments, the State acknowledged the lack of evidence and told the jury, "*I don't need physical evidence, I've got her statement and his statement.*" (Tr. p. 344, lines 18-19) (emphasis added). The State then highlighted the importance of the only evidence implicating Appellant, Daughter's testimony and Appellant's statement: "*Of course, [Daughter] and the defendant are really the only two that really know what happened.*" (Tr. p. 347, lines 22-24) (emphasis added).

The jury began deliberations at 10:00 AM, and the jury subsequently submitted several questions, asking (1) to see the transcript of the video recording of Appellant's statement to law enforcement,<sup>4</sup> and (2) for the Daughter's written statement. (Tr. p. 389, line 23 — p. 390, line 7).

---

<sup>3</sup> Appellant and Farinas kept his old house to use as a rental property. (Tr. p. 312, lines 2-23).

<sup>4</sup> The only video admitted into evidence was Appellant's statement to law enforcement. (Tr. P. 4, line 12 — p. 5, line 17).

The Trial Court ultimately issued an *Allen* charge from 12:24 to 12:27 PM, and the jury returned verdicts of guilty as charged at 2:41 PM.

This appeal follows.

## STANDARD OF REVIEW

The voluntariness of a defendant’s statement to police is a mixed question of fact and law. *State v. Miller*, 441 S.C. 106, 119, 893 S.E.2d 306, 313 (2023). Accordingly, appellate courts “review the trial court’s factual findings for any evidentiary support,” while “the ultimate legal conclusion—whether, based on those facts, a statement was voluntarily made—is a question of law subject to de novo review.” *Id.*

## ARGUMENT

### I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY ADMITTING APPELLANT'S STATEMENT TO POLICE BECAUSE THE POLICE PROVIDED FALSE ASSURANCES OF CONFIDENTIALITY, AND WHERE THE TRIAL COURT AGREED THE FALSE ASSURANCES WERE IMPROPER BUT FOUND THE STATEMENT VOLUNTARY DESPITE THE UNCONSTITUTIONAL INDUCEMENT AND LACK OF EVIDENCE AGAINST APPELLANT.

#### *Law*

There are two constitutional bases that require statements admitted into evidence to be voluntarily made by a criminal defendant: (1) the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment, and (2) the Fifth Amendment right against self-incrimination. *Miller*, 441 S.C. at 120, 893 S.E.2d at 313 (citing *Dickerson v. United States*, 530 U.S. 428, 433, 120 S. Ct. 2326 (2000)). The United States Supreme Court has observed that the requirement of warnings regarding the Fifth Amendment in *Miranda* "does not, of course, dispense with the voluntariness inquiry." *Dickerson*, 530 U.S. at 444.

Pursuant to *Jackson v. Denno*, 378 U.S. 368, 84 S. Ct. 1774 (1964), a defendant "is entitled to a reliable determination as to the voluntariness of his confession by a tribunal other than the jury charged with deciding his guilt or innocence." *State v. Fortner*, 266 S.C. 223, 226, 222 S.E.2d 508, 510 (1976). In South Carolina, the trial judge makes this initial determination of voluntariness required by *Jackson v. Denno*. *Id.* at 226-27, 222 S.E.2d at 510.

"The trial judge's determination of the voluntariness of a statement must be made on the basis of the totality of the circumstances, including the background, experience, and conduct of the accused." *State v. Saltz*, 346 S.C. 114, 136, 551 S.E.2d 240, 252 (2001); *see also State v. Moses*, 390 S.C. 502, 513, 702 S.E.2d 395, 401 (Ct. App. 2010) ("In South Carolina, the test for determining whether a defendant's confession was given freely, knowingly, and voluntarily focuses upon whether the defendant's will was overborne by the totality of the circumstances

surrounding the confession.").

"If a suspect's will is overborne and his capacity for self-determination critically impaired, use of the resulting confession offends due process." *Saltz*, 346 S.C. at 136, 551 S.E.2d at 252 (citing *Schneckloth v. Bustamonte*, 412 U.S. 218, 225, 93 S. Ct. 2041 (1973)). "Ultimately, the determination will depend 'upon a weighing of the circumstances of pressure against the power of resistance of the person confessing.'" *Miller*, 441 S.C. at 120, 893 S.E.2d at 314 (quoting *Dickerson*, 530 U.S. at 434).

Our Supreme Court has noted, "Courts may consider the impact of a number of factors" in assessing voluntariness, such as the accused's youth and maturity, lack of education, or low intelligence; the failure to advise the accused of his constitutional rights; the presence of a written waiver of rights; the physical condition and mental health of the accused; the circumstances of the interrogation, including its length, repeated nature, location, and continuity; the use of physical punishment; whether law enforcement offered specific promises of leniency (as opposed to general comments that cooperation would be beneficial); and whether law enforcement made intentional misrepresentations of the evidence against the accused. *See id.* at 120-21, 893 S.E.2d at 314 (enumerating a nonexclusive list of factors).

"It is generally recognized that the police may use some psychological tactics in eliciting a statement from a suspect." *State v. Parker*, 381 S.C. 68, 89, 671 S.E.2d 619, 630 (Ct. App. 2008) (citation omitted). "These ploys may play a part in the suspect's decision to confess, but so long as that decision is a product of the suspect's own balancing of competing considerations, the confession is voluntary." *Id.* (citation omitted).

However, "[c]ertain interrogation techniques, either in isolation, or as applied to the unique characteristics of a particular suspect, are so offensive to a civilized system of justice that they

must be condemned under the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment." *Miller*, 441 S.C. at 120, 893 S.E.2d at 313 (quoting *Miller v. Fenton*, 474 U.S. 104, 109, 106 S. Ct. 445 (1985)). "Coercion is determined from the perspective of the suspect." *State v. Goodwin*, 384 S.C. 588, 601, 683 S.E.2d 500, 507 (Ct. App. 2009) (citation omitted).

In *State v. Collins*, the defendant was suspected of participating in an arson that resulted in the homicide of a 12-year-old boy. *Id.*, 442 S.C. at 449-50, 900 S.E.2d at 428-29. When Collins came to the police station to retrieve his cell phone, two police officers interrogated him. *Id.* The Officers took Collins to a small, secluded room, mirandized him, and questioned him for approximately three hours. The Officers recorded the interrogation. *Id.* 442 S.C. at 450, 900 S.E.2d at 429.

After only about 21 minutes into questioning, Collins was concerned that he would "say the wrong thing." The Officers assured Collins, "Whatever you tell me, it ain't gonna leave this room, This, um, tape is going into my file, ...." *Id.* 442 S.C. at 451, 900 S.E.2d at 430. The Officers indicated they were interested in a different suspect, and that he would be able to go home that day. The Officers also threatened Collins that he could be facing prison time if he did not tell them anything. *Id.* Eventually, Collins relented and confessed to aspects of the arson; however, he did not accept responsibility. Rather, Collins "maintained that he left the scene and was not the person who actually started the fire". Notably, Appellant wrote at the beginning of his written statement, "I DID NOT DO it." *Id.* 442 S.C. at 451-52, 900 S.E.2d at 430.

Our Supreme Court found Collins' post-Miranda statement involuntary due to the unconstitutional inducement of the false assurances of confidentiality. Specifically, the Court determined that "[a] false assurance of confidentiality from law enforcement is inherently coercive because it interferes with a layperson's ability to make a fully informed decision whether to engage

in an interview under such circumstances.” *Collins*, 442 S.C. at 455, 900 S.E.2d at 432.

The *Collins* Court held,

[T]he only reasonable interpretation of the officer's statements to Collins—that the door was closed and the blinds were drawn because nothing would ever leave that room or the ‘file’—is that they constituted a false promise of confidentiality. Although Collins was assured that he would be going home that day regardless of what he said and that he was not the focus of the investigation, the unspoken truth was that law enforcement could—and did—later seek to use Collins's uncounseled, ‘confidential’ statements against him in a court of law, to his detriment, despite these assurances to the contrary. This misstatement of the law and false assurance by law enforcement regarding Collins's constitutional rights violated due process.

...

We modify [the Court of Appeals’] decision slightly to clarify that a false statement of confidentiality can be conclusive on the issue of voluntariness, regardless of the existence or negation of Miranda warnings (or the need to examine the totality of the circumstances). However, the erroneous admission of an involuntary statement is still subject to a harmless error analysis.

*Collins*, 442 S.C. at 459, 900 S.E.2d at 434.

### ***Discussion***

In this case, the Trial Court erred by admitting Appellant’s statement to police because the police provided false assurances of confidentiality, and where the Trial Court agreed the false assurances were improper but found the statement voluntary despite the unconstitutional inducement and lack of evidence against Appellant. *See Collins*, 442 S.C. 444, 900 S.E.2d 426.

Same as in *Collins*, the police involuntarily obtained Appellant’s statement through the false assurances of confidentiality and coercion. *Id.* After denying involvement, Det. Johnson unleashed a torrent of lies and relentless psychological pressure on Appellant, including false assurances of confidentiality, to unconstitutionally induce a confession. (Tr. p. 51, lines 5-17; Tr. p.

223, lines 2-4).

Specifically, Det. Johnson assured Appellant that the conversation was confidential, stating “it’s okay, it’s just me, you, and [another detective] in this room” and that they were not going to tell anybody. (Tr. p. 44, line 20 – p. 45, line 7; Tr. p. 54, line 1 – p. 55, line 20; Tr. p. 209, lines 21-25; R.\* State’s Exhibit No. 10, Recording). In fact, Det. Johnson provided these assurances after Appellant indicated his initial belief that others were watching behind a two-way mirror in the room. (Tr. p. 44, lines 3-11; Tr. p. 55, lines 6-14; R.\* State’s Exhibit No. 10, Recording).

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