STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Horry County
Honorable Michael G. Nettles, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case No. 2025-001023

RECEIVED
Sep 14 2026
SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

Respondent,

vs.

RODOLFO S. MORENO,

Appellant.

INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

MARK R. FARTHING
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

JIMMY A. RICHARDSON, II
Solicitor, Fifteenth Judicial Circuit

Post Office Drawer 1276
Conway, SC 29526
(843) 915-5460

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

The trial judge properly admitted Appellant's incriminating statements to law enforcement into evidence during trial because: (1) based on the totality of the circumstances, those statements were voluntarily made by Appellant after he had been fully advised of his rights and warned anything he said would be used against him; and (2) when viewed in context, nothing the detective said to Appellant during the interview could have reasonably been construed as a false assurance of blanket confidentiality to Appellant, particularly in light of the clear warning that had already been conveyed to him.

Appellant contends the trial judge reversibly erred by allowing his incriminating statements to Detective Johnson to be admitted into evidence during trial. As support for that contention, Appellant maintains his incriminating admissions should have been excluded from evidence because his will was purportedly overborn through false assurances of confidentiality akin to the ones made in the Collins case along with other psychological coercive pressure, which supposedly led to an involuntary confession. Appellant further notes the trial judge specifically found some of the remarks made by Detective Johnson were improper and, thus, maintains the trial judge was wrong to conclude those improper remarks nevertheless did not render Appellant's incriminating statements involuntary. To the contrary, Detective Johnson's remarks—when viewed in the actual context in which they were made—did not constitute a blanket assurance of confidentiality to Appellant, and the totality of the circumstances surrounding Appellant's incriminating statements fully supported the trial judge's determination those statements were voluntarily made after a valid waiver of rights as opposed to being the product of any undue police coercion. Under such circumstances, the trial judge correctly admitted Appellant's incriminating statements into evidence during trial, and there are no proper grounds warranting a reversal of that sound decision on appeal. Appellant's convictions should be affirmed.

In a criminal prosecution, the State “may not use statements, whether exculpatory or inculpatory, stemming from custodial interrogation of the defendant unless it demonstrates the use of procedural safeguards effective to secure the privilege against self-incrimination.”

Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436, 444 (1966). Prior to custodial interrogation, a suspect must be warned he has a right to remain silent, any of his statements may be used against him, he has a right to an attorney, and an attorney will be appointed to him prior to any questioning if he desires one and cannot afford one. Id. at 479. Once those warnings are given to a suspect and the suspect is afforded an opportunity to exercise his rights, the suspect may knowingly and intelligently waive those rights and make a statement. Id.

Significantly, if a defendant is advised of his constitutional rights and then chooses to make a statement, the burden is on the State to prove by a preponderance of the evidence the defendant knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily waived his rights. State v. Rochester, 301 S.C. 196, 200, 391 S.E.2d 244, 246 (1990); see Berghuis v. Thompkins, 560 U.S. 370, 384 (2010) (instructing the prosecution must establish the accused understood her rights in order for the accused’s waiver of those rights to be valid). In determining whether a valid waiver of rights occurred, the particular facts and circumstances surrounding the case must be examined, including the background, experience, and conduct of the accused. North Carolina v. Butler, 441 U.S. 369, 374-375 (1979). Furthermore, a valid waiver of rights can be established through proof of express written or oral statements or can be inferred from the actions and words of the person interrogated. Id. at 373; see Berghuis, 560 U.S. at 384 (“An ‘implicit waiver’ of the ‘right to remain silent’ is sufficient to admit a suspect’s statement into evidence.” (citation omitted)); State v. Kennedy, 333 S.C. 426, 429, 510 S.E.2d 714, 715 (1998) (“An express waiver is

unnecessary to support a finding that the defendant has waived the right to remain silent or the right to counsel guaranteed by Miranda.”).

However, even if a defendant validly waives his rights and makes a statement, a confession or statement by a defendant is nonetheless inadmissible unless voluntarily made. State v. Myers, 359 S.C. 40, 47, 596 S.E.2d 488, 492 (2004). The reason for the prohibition against the use of an involuntary confession is that “coerced confessions” have been recognized to be “inherently untrustworthy.” Dickerson v. United States, 530 U.S. 428, 433 (2000); see also Jackson v. Denno, 378 U.S. 368, 385-386 (1964) (“[T]he Fourteenth Amendment forbids the use of involuntary confessions not only because of the probable unreliability of confessions that are obtained in a manner deemed coercive, but also because of the strongly felt attitude of our society that important human values are sacrificed where an agency of the government, in the course of securing a conviction, wrings a confession out of an accused against his will, and because of the deep-rooted feeling that the police must obey the law while enforcing the law; that in the end life and liberty can be as much endangered from illegal methods used to convict those thought to be criminals as from the actual criminals themselves.” (citations and internal quotations omitted)).

When considering the voluntariness and admissibility of a defendant’s statements, the trial judge should examine the totality of the circumstances under which the statements were made to determine whether the State has met its burden of proving voluntariness by a preponderance of the evidence. State v. Rabon, 275 S.C. 459, 461, 272 S.E.2d 634, 635 (1980); see Boulden v. Holman, 394 U.S. 478, 480 (1969) (“The question whether a confession was voluntarily made necessarily turns on the totality of the circumstances[.]” (footnote and internal quotations omitted)); State v. Dye, 384 S.C. 42, 47, 681 S.E.2d 23, 26 (Ct. App. 2009)

(recognizing “the State must show the statement was voluntarily made by a preponderance of the evidence”). Factors to be considered in the totality-of-the-circumstances analysis include: (1) the age and maturity of the accused; (2) the educational level and intelligence of the accused; (3) the accused’s knowledge of her constitutional rights; (4) the physical condition of the accused, including whether the accused was intoxicated at the time of the interrogation; (5) the mental health of the accused; (6) the length of the accused’s detention; (7) the nature of the questioning and whether it was repeated and prolonged; (8) the location of the interrogation; (9) the presence or absence of the use of punishment, including deprivation of food or sleep; (10) whether specific promises of leniency were made; and (11) whether law enforcement made deliberate misrepresentations of the evidence. Schneckloth v. Bustamonte, 412 U.S. 218, 226 (1973); Miller, 441 S.C. at 121, 893 S.E.2d at 314. Significantly though, “no one factor is determinative,” and “each case requires careful scrutiny of all the surrounding circumstances.” State v. Pittman, 373 S.C. 527, 566, 647 S.E.2d 144, 164 (2007). Moreover, “[t]he mere existence of threats, violence, implied promises, improper influence, or other coercive police activity . . . does not automatically render a confession involuntary.” United States v. Braxton, 112 F.3d 777, 780 (4th Cir. 1997).

In the end, the “ultimate test” of voluntariness involves determining whether the confession was “the product of an essentially free and unconstrained choice by its maker” or was the product of an overborne will and critically-impaired capacity for self-determination. Schneckloth, 412 U.S. at 225-226; see State v. Von Dohlen, 322 S.C. 234, 243, 471 S.E.2d 689, 695 (1996) (“The question is whether the defendant’s will was overborne when he confessed.”); see also Miller v. Fenton, 796 F.2d 598, 604 (3rd Cir. 1986) (“We emphasize that the test for voluntariness is not a but-for test: we do not ask whether the confession would have been made

in the absence of the interrogation. Few criminals feel impelled to confess to the police purely of their own accord, without any questioning at all.”). Importantly, “the determination will depend upon a weighing of the circumstances of pressure against the power of resistance of the person confessing.” Miller, 441 S.C. at 120, 893 S.E.2d at 314 (citation and internal quotations omitted). Furthermore, the defendant’s statement must have actually been the product of some coercive law enforcement activity or state action for it to be found involuntary. See Colorado v. Connelly, 479 U.S. 157, 167 (1986) (“[C]oercive police activity is a necessary predicate to the finding that a confession is not ‘voluntary’ within the meaning of the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment.”).

Through the State v. Collins appeal, both this Court and our Supreme Court were somewhat recently confronted with an issue centered on the voluntariness of a confession. Collins, 442 S.C. at 448, 900 S.E.2d at 428. In that particular case, law enforcement officers interviewed Collins several times as part of an investigation into a fatal trailer fire that resulted in the tragic death of a twelve-year-old boy. Id. at 448-499, 900 S.E.2d at 428-429. During one of the interviews, Collins was advised of his rights toward the outset and warned anything he said could be used in court as evidence against him. Id. at 450, 900 S.E.2d at 429. Following that, the interview proceeded forward, the officers spoke with Collins about the fire, and Collins denied any involvement in it. Id. One of the officers—Agent Scott Hardee from the South Carolina Law Enforcement Division (“SLED”)—then “reassured Collins that the interview was confidential, emphasizing that the door was shut and the blinds were closed in the interview room and that *anything* Collins told them was only for the file and would not leave the room.” Id. at 451, 900 S.E.2d at 429 (emphasis added and internal quotations omitted). Eventually, after that *clear* and *indisputable* assurance of confidentiality—which was expressly applicable to

“whatever” he said—was communicated, Collins incriminatingly admitted he was at the scene of the crime when the fire was started and had been asked to burn down the trailer in exchange for \$5,000. Id. at 451-452, 900 S.E.2d at 430. Thereafter, Collins was later arrested and charged with first-degree arson and criminal conspiracy, his incriminating statements were admitted into evidence during trial, and he was convicted as charged. Id. at 452, 900 S.E.2d at 430. Collins then appealed. Id.

On appeal, this Court reversed Collins’s convictions after concluding it was “inescapable” Collins’s confession was involuntary based on what occurred during the interview. State v. Collins, 435 S.C. 31, 54, 864 S.E.2d 914, 926 (Ct. App. 2021). Specifically, in reaching such a conclusion, this Court noted Agent Hardee’s assurance to Collins clearly and indisputably communicated to Collins *whatever* he told the officers would not be used against him. Id. at 51, 864 S.E.2d at 924.

Following that decision, the State petitioned for a writ of certiorari in the Supreme Court, and that petition was granted. Collins, 442 S.C. at 448, 900 S.E.2d at 428. Ultimately though, the Supreme Court affirmed this Court’s decision as modified, holding “Collins’s statement was rendered involuntary when law enforcement gave Collins Miranda warnings and subsequently negated them by falsely advising him that his statements would remain confidential.” Id. (footnote omitted). In so holding, the Supreme Court concluded it was and is improper for law enforcement officers to make false assurances of confidentiality when interviewing a suspect. Id. at 455, 800 S.E.2d at 432. The Supreme Court then looked to what had specifically been said in Collins’s case and found “the *only* reasonable interpretation of the officer’s statements to Collins—that the door was closed and the blinds were drawn because nothing would ever leave that room or the ‘file’—[wa]s that they constituted a false promise of confidentiality” that

rendered Collins’s statement involuntary. Id. at 459-460, 900 S.E.2d at 434. Beyond that, the Supreme Court clarified such “a false statement of confidentiality *can* be conclusive on the issue of voluntariness, regardless of the existence or negation of Miranda warnings (or the need to examine the totality of the circumstances).” Id. at 460, 900 S.E.2d at 434 (emphasis added).

With those principles in mind, Appellant’s incriminating admissions in the case sub judice did *not*—despite what Appellant now contends—follow any clear, indisputable, and unambiguous assurances from Detective Johnson that anything and everything Appellant said in the interview would remain confidential and would not be used against him. Demonstrating that fact, Detective Johnson—unlike the agent participating in the interview of Collins—never at any point made any broad assurances to Appellant that “[w]hatever [he] told [him], it ain’t gonna leave th[e interview] room.” Id. at 451, 900 S.E.2d at 430 (emphasis removed). Nor did the detective ever blanketly advise Appellant what he said in the interview room “would be off-the-record and would not be used against him, even if it were incriminating.” Redmond v. People, 501 P.2d 1051, 1052 (Colo. 1972). Furthermore, Detective Johnson never—repeatedly or otherwise—explicitly assured Appellant “whatever he said was between them[.]” State v. Stanga, 617 N.W.2d 486, 490 (N.D. 2000); see State v. Parker, 999 A.2d 314, 320 (N.H. 2010) (“The detective’s statement ‘what you tell me and what we deal with in here can stay between me and you’ can reasonably be interpreted only one way—that what the defendant told the detective would be kept confidential.” (brackets omitted)).

Instead, the only remark Detective Johnson made during the interview that could have reasonably or logically been interpreted as an assurance of confidentiality of any kind was a highly-specific and limited one that did not broadly extend to anything, everything, and whatever Appellant said in the interview room regardless of whether incriminating or not. More

specifically, Detective Johnson’s narrow assurance to Appellant was that if Appellant got too close and *became excited* when he self-admittedly “hugged up” to his daughter, they were “not gonna go tell anybody” and it was “okay if [he] did.”¹⁵ Thus, to the extent Detective Johnson assured Appellant of any confidentiality, the offered assurance—when viewed in the context in which it was made and afforded its logical contextual meaning—*only* extended to the limited matter of whether Appellant became aroused when he hugged his daughter.

And, in the context in which that assurance was made, such a limited interpretation was entirely logical and understandable at that point in the interview. A father becoming sexually aroused when hugging his minor daughter was and is something that most normal people would consider to be creepy, disturbing, shameful, unnatural, and worthy of scorn, and Appellant—who had not yet confessed to doing anything illegal—certainly would not have wanted that fact to be shared with anyone else had he admitted at that point to having become excited when he hugged Victim. However, if all Appellant had truly done was become inappropriately excited during a hug, such an occurrence would not have independently meant Appellant had committed a crime

¹⁵ Again, Detective Johnson’s key exchange with Appellant was as follows:

[Detective Johnson]: Did you . . . when you hugged up, did you get a little too close and get excited?

[Appellant]: No, sir.

[Detective Johnson]: It’s okay if you did, Rudy. I mean, there’s nobody in this room. We’re not gonna go tell anybody. It’s just us.

[Appellant]: No, sir. I, I didn’t. I mean, I’m telling you the truth.

[Detective Johnson]: Did y’all have sex?

[Appellant]: No, sir.

(Tr. p. 209; State’s Ex. # 10) (emphasis added).

and would not itself have been unlawful in any way. Therefore, Detective Johnson's assurance to Appellant they were not going to go and reveal a reprehensible-but-not-illegal fact to others if Appellant admitted to it was a perfectly sensible offer that Appellant—or anyone else hearing the remark—could and would have reasonably understood in the limited context in which it was made.

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